
The Flood of 1955 in Torrington, CT

History 227

Greg Dahlmann

World War II was over and a “baby boom” was beginning to take place when Torrington, Connecticut was peaking out in the early 1950s.  As the industrial capital and major market of Litchfield County, the population in Torrington stood at roughly 29,000 people in 1955.
 Lying in the valley of the Litchfield Hills in northwest Connecticut, roughly 20 miles north of Waterbury, Torrington was becoming the establishment for work and entertainment for the surrounding rural towns of Litchfield, Goshen, and Harwinton (all of which are nicely situated among the hills).  The blue collar town was beginning to see a glimmer of prosperity it did not have since the pre-Great Depression time in the late 1920s, thanks in part to the success of the industries.  Unfortunately for the citizens of Torrington in the summer of 1955, a torrential downpour was looming on the horizon – not any old rainstorm or rainstorms, but storms that were capable enough to create a change in history.  These storms would lead up to a great flood; so great that not only would the disaster become the worst in town history, but it would also be known as the worst natural disaster to ever strike in the state’s history – the onslaught of a billion dollar catastrophe.


Torrington is nestled among a few rivers and streams, as well as having many surrounding lakes.  Up until the 1950s there were only two notable dams within the town.  They were the Coe Brass Company Dam and the Warrenton Wool Mill Dam.
 Since downtown Torrington was placed in the lowest part of the valley, it was known to be susceptible to flooding from streams near by, particularly from the Naugatuck River.  A number of buildings in fact were built on top of the main bridge over this river on Main Street.  This given spot in town has always served as a crossroads-meeting place for the intersection of the four main roads in town, which include East Main, Water, and South Main Streets.  Today, these streets are set up roughly the exact same way, with South Main Street being the exception having had the biggest makeover in the post-flood era.  It is scary to imagine, but those changes would be brought in a simple overnight occurrence without anyone ever expecting it.


August has always been known to be the starting month for hurricane season.  In 1955, things were not going to be any different.  Hurricanes are most noteworthy for their extreme winds and pouring rains, and it is the winds that do the most damage, knocking over power lines, taking down trees, and doing extensive damage to personal property.  The rain can cause flash flooding, creating many problems.  In particular it is more problematic for coastlines.  Images of damaged turf and wrecked ships along the docks on the shoreline float through people’s minds in times like this.  Inland towns on the other hand usually did not have to worry about hurricanes, which inflicted most of their damage on coastal towns.  Furthermore, hurricanes usually had weakened before reaching the northeastern United States; they might deliver some torrential downpours, but these would be short-lived and would inflict little damage beyond basement flooding.


Meteorologists began to predict hurricanes would be coming into northeastern United States sometime around the middle of August.  There were three all together; the first of which had little or no impact at all on the state of Connecticut.  The second, Hurricane Connie was considered to be the most threatening of the three.  Storm trackers warned citizens of potential heavy rains but the outcome was not to be all that serious.
 On Thursday, August 18, 1955, Hurricane Connie was predicted to be followed by Hurricane Diane, the third and least threatening hurricane of the trilogy.  Hurricane Connie had brought 4” of rain down onto the town of Torrington and any more would pose for some serious damage to cellars, basements, and the ground itself.
 What was not expected however was a dying storm to rebuild and intensify itself into delivering more than twice the amount of rain Connie had brought.  Hurricane Diane appeared to be in its dying stages and had been declassified as a hurricane already the day before.
 By the time it reached the state of Connecticut in the early morning hours of Friday, August 19, the storm began to show signs of torrential rains and devastating forces not seen since days earlier when it was still classified as a hurricane.  “Black Friday,” as the day became known, would be the most disastrous day in not only Torrington’s, but also much of the state’s history.
   


The rivers were already fairly high even before Diane struck, thanks to the previous rainfalls that dumped several inches of rain.  Flooding began in the northwest corner of town along Newfield Road (a generally hilly, rising road that makes it way towards Winchester).  Newfield Brook began to overflow onto the pavement, forming a stream that would run down a gradual slope into downtown.
 At about the same time the Naugatuck River was continuously rising, giving way water to much of the low-lying areas in town.  The town was now falling victim to an extreme natural disaster – a flood!


Approximately 8 ½” of rain fell through the morning hours of August 19, 1955.
  Another six inches would fall before “the dying remainder” of Hurricane Diane left town.
 Along with the previous rain from less severe rain storms, close to twenty-six inches of rain fell in the city of Torrington in barely two weeks.
 It was enough rainfall to cause the two dams to overflow and eventually burst.


Torrington’s lower valley regions were vastly flooded by mid-day Friday, covering nearly 3 miles of area.  The regions most affected and sustaining the most damage were in the west, the south, and in the central parts of town.  The north and east ends of town are situated in much higher elevations, and therefore did not have to suffer as much as other areas like so on into the Naugatuck River Valley 25 miles south of Torrington.  One observation noted:


42 boxcars of timber from Hotchkiss lumber were swept away



from the railroad tracks, filling and damming the waterway and 



destroying everything, including bridges, that stood in the way.


Main Street was overflowing with rising waters, that when peaked, had reached a depth of 10 feet.  As a result, businesses were evacuated and much damage was left behind in the most commercial and industrial sectors of town.  Governor Ribicoff declared a state of emergency.  The silos and mills to the south were damaged, as they were immediately close along to the river’s border, much like the rest of the town.  Near the town center, less than 2 miles north of the previously mentioned area, a large notable hotel that once stood was destroyed.
  The valley of Litchfield County was now paralyzed and had succumbed to the fury of the storm.

The western part of the town was filled with residential housing and more importantly, factories.  When the flood was at its peak, the first two floors of the American Brass Company and the Hotchkiss Industries were underwater.  Houses alongside Riverside Avenue were either swept away or heavily damaged by the raging floodwaters.  This is especially true since the Naugatuck River has always been at its widest while running parallel to this road.  From here out eastward towards “the old” Route 8, a considerable amount of land was underwater, covering maybe close to one-fourth of modern-day Torrington.


The flood caught the attention of many organizations that were looking to provide help to the citizens in town.  Groups of local people and professional organizations gathered with the same intentions in mind to help the city in its time of need.  The Red Cross, for instance, was able to contribute $700,000 immediately for aid.
 Other outside help came from Middlesex County firefighters and Army engineers who were used in cleaning, disinfecting, and repairing tasks around the city.
 The National Guard would also be brought in to survey the damage and look for missing people.  When floodwaters already began to die down by Saturday, August 20, announcements were made in the outside counties’ newspapers, urging citizens to get typhoid shots and to boil their drinking water.  It would not be until a few days later that the local Torrington Register could do the same after suspending publication for nearly a week because of damages done to their printing shop.


The damage to the city of Torrington was very extensive.  Wires were knocked down everywhere, leading to a total of nearly 85,500 downed telephones.
 Just about every single iron bridge was ruined.  Those that were destroyed were temporarily replaced by scary, hanging footbridges, which were virtually the only way to get out of town.


The damage done to the town was by far into the millions of dollars.  Depending upon the source, $13 to 22 million worth of damages had been assessed.  “One hundred seventy to 200 retailers had been wiped out, the contents of their shops buried atop the streets in 3 feet of muck.”
 Many businesses were forced to close down, but by late August many of them were back up and running, giving anxious employees the opportunity to go back to work.  “With the exception of N. Riverside and Southwest Schools, all schools in the city withstood damage,” announced Superintendent John R. Murphy.
 In less than one week from the 85,500 telephones that were knocked out, Southern New England Telephone restored more than 80% of these; more than 95% of all homes had their power back as well.
 Besides the damages done in terms of property and expense came the loss of life.  Fortunately (and figures from the sources are all slightly altered) no more than 6 to 8 people died as a result, the last body being found a week after the occurrence of the flood underneath the wreckage of the Albert Street Bridge.


The result of the flood gave way to new ideas in terms of redeveloping in the area by means of making sure a disaster like this never happens again.  These ideas in mind were of the establishing of river and brook dams that had not previously existed.  Truth of the matter is, the Army Corps of Engineers at one time previously studied the path of the twisting Naugatuck River and knew of the possible danger it possessed, but did not act in time.  Starting in 1956 they were to work to prevent anything like the events in August 1955 from happening again.
 The projects included the building of the Brook Dam (1962) and the East Branch Dam (1964), all of which were done with Federal money.  Besides the creation of these dams channel improvements and floodwalls were made.  Rock-filled slopes were created on both east and west branches of the Naugatuck River, and these operations were done in 1958 and 1960, respectively.


The Army Engineers were not the only ones at work on these water projects.  Some time after the flood, the City of Torrington created a Redevelopment Agency to do a $1.5 million renewal job on the south central portion of the city along with a Flood and Erosion Control Board to clean out dangerous river-side structures.  They worked in cooperation with the Army Engineers in erection of temporary dikes.
 As a result of their work, Torrington has gone flood-free ever since.


Almost every resident of Torrington at one time or another has heard of the Flood of ’55 that swept through much of the valley.  The flood serves as a time marker in the city’s history.  One can begin to talk about how one section of Torrington was before the flood and compare its existence into modern-day Torrington, or post-flood era Torrington.  Pictures and sources will show that much of the downtown area remains the same for the most part.  There are, however, a few major differences in the scenery.  One of which includes the monstrous white hotel (previously mentioned) that was set up along South Main Street, but is no more.  The flood had enough force to wipe out close to half of it on its own will before being helped by demolition workers to have the job completed.  In the hotel’s place today rests a more open South Main Street, part of a shopping plaza (Torrington Plaza), and parts of a green park (Coe Park, designed by none other than Frederick Law Olmstead), which includes sitting benches and a fountain.  In place of the American Brass Company today stands a giant senior citizens’ home (the Twin Towers).
 The residential area took a hit, but was more fortunate than the retail and industrial zones.  Roads like Riverside Avenue and East Albert Street were covered by the swollen Naugatuck River during the flood, but appear from photographs to have changed only a little.  Since the 1950s the population has grown closer towards 40,000 people.  Once a major industrial town, Torrington has since turned towards commercialization.  Along with the great expansion of the size of the town in the 1980s and 1990s came the great booming of retail stores.  McDonald’s, Wal-Mart, K-Mart, and many other stores similar to these are now here, that were not conceivable to have had back then.  Downtown looks almost identical to the way it used to be, having the glow of a recreated 1930s-Warner Theatre and the same structures that surround it.  The one big change now is that there are street lights in place of a rotary system.  If there was a real end to anything in Torrington, the flood might have marked a slowdown leading up to the eventual quicker elimination of factories in town.  It was estimated that the industrial force felt $7 million in losses.
 With the appeal of cheaper southern labor in the years that followed along with several recessions in an economy of a blue-collar town that showed little stability, it was enough to see these factories close their doors once and for all in Torrington.  To some extent the flood helped rush the advancing stages of the “rustbelt” to Northwestern Connecticut.  Yet, it is still a little hard to determine where the town would be right now had there been no flood.  A few people have said it would be in contention with Waterbury, calling 1955 a major setback year in terms of production and population growth.  Regardless of what the town may have or have not been like, being a resident living in Torrington can often seem downtrodden in respect to its surrounding wealthier neighboring towns.  A coincidental or perhaps noteworthy feature that deserves attention is that it appears today the closer the neighborhood or house that comes within the Naugatuck River or even the Newfield Brook the more likely it is to be impoverished or at the utmost, containing a lower-middle class family.  The further the community extends outward, away from the rivers and streams, towards the hilltop areas or towns, the more likely it is for the houses to be in better shape, containing upper-middle class to fairly wealthy elite families.  The people of today who live in these wealthy, hilltop towns no longer turn to Torrington for well-paying jobs, nor find it to be the entertainment center of Litchfield County.  If anything, the commercialized districts serve some meaning in providing stores for clothes, accessories, and basic needs, typically at more convenient, lower prices than could be found elsewhere in places like Litchfield, Goshen, or even Canton and Avon.  The town would reaffirm its status when immigrants coming from Italy, Ireland, Poland, and Germany arrived delivering more to the middle class population in hopes of better paying factory jobs in an ideal location, being not too far from New York City.  They were not enough to stop the majority of factories from leaving town, nor were they enough to ever bring back the development of real growth to a city that was probably meant to urbanize, but never really did.  Mark McEachern of the Torrington Historical Society said it best by calling the flood “the single most significant event for this city not only for the damage it caused but for the changes it wrought.”
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